No. S258498

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JANE DOE,

Plaintiff, Cross-defendant, and Respondent,

v.

CURTIS OLSON,

Defendant, Cross-complainant, and Appellant.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION EIGHT CASE NO. B286105

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KEITER APPELLATE LAW

Mitchell Keiter (Bar No. 156755)
THE BEVERLY HILLS LAW BUILDING
424 SOUTH BEVERLY DRIVE
BEVERLY HILLS, CALIFORNIA 90212
(310) 553-8533 • FAX: (310) 203-9853
mitchell.keiter@gmail.com

SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP

Jean-Claude André (Bar No. 213538)*
David R. Carpenter (Bar No. 230299)
Collin P. Wedel (Bar No. 278461)
Andrew B. Talai (Bar No. 300053)
Joel L. Richert (Bar No. 327116)

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Does the litigation privilege of Civil Code section 47, subdivision (b), apply to contract claims, and if so, under what circumstances?
- II. Does an agreement following mediation between the parties in an action for a temporary restraining order, in which they agree not to disparage each other, bar a later unlimited civil lawsuit arising from the same alleged sexual violence?

INTRODUCTION

Like most other jurisdictions, California has a litigation privilege (Civ. Code § 47, subd. (b)) that broadly immunizes communications made in, or relating to, judicial or quasi-judicial proceedings from forming the basis for liability. Plaintiff, Cross-defendant, and Respondent Jane Doe filed a civil action against Defendant, Cross-complainant, and Appellant Curtis Olson and others based on Olson's sexual assault of Doe, as well as Olson and others' years-long campaign of harassment of and discrimination against her. Olson cross-complained, asserting that Doe's civil action was disparaging and therefore breached a mediated stay-away agreement that the parties had entered into during civil harassment restraining order proceedings initiated by Doe a year earlier and in which they agreed "not to disparage one another." In response, Doe filed a special motion to strike under the anti-SLAPP statute

(Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16), arguing in relevant part that Olson's cross-claim was meritless because it was barred by the litigation privilege. Despite the litigation privilege's vital public policy of promoting access to the courts (and other governmental bodies) and encouraging open communication with them without fear of derivative or retaliatory lawsuits, the court of appeal held that, in light of the stay-away agreement, Doe's civil action was *not* privileged under section 47(b) and Olson's cross-claim for breach of contract could proceed.

This Court has agreed to analyze (1) whether the litigation privilege applies as a defense to breach-of-contract claims like Olson's counterclaim and, if so, under what circumstances; and (2) whether a mediated agreement containing a non-disparagement clause like the one the parties reached during Doe's civil harassment restraining order proceedings can bar a subsequent civil action like Doe's. Both issues provide an independent basis for reversal of the court of appeal's erroneous decision.

First, this Court's decisions interpreting the litigation privilege all but ordain that it apply to contract claims. As a result, the courts of appeal (like numerous other jurisdictions) have consistently applied the privilege to derivative contract claims and found that it will bar them except where the privilege was clearly and explicitly waived and such a waiver is consistent with public policy.

Second, traditional contract principles reinforce the application of the litigation privilege in this context and independently compel the conclusion that the mediated stay-away agreement at issue here did not waive Doe's right to bring her civil action. Contracts purporting to waive fundamental rights, such as Doe's right to petition the courts, require a clear and express intent to do so. That presumption against waiver carries special force in the context of an agreement reached in civil harassment restraining order proceedings which, by statute, are designed to forestall interpersonal conflict and contemplate restraining order applicants "using other existing civil remedies" to supplement the limited remedies available in such proceedings. To that end, the stayaway agreement here focuses on keeping Doe and Olson apart from each other, contains only an unadorned non-disparagement clause, contains no explicit waiver of claims or release of liability against Olson or any of the other defendants that Doe sued, and expressly contemplates "subsequent legal proceedings."

Finally, even if, under traditional contract principles, Doe had somehow waived her right to bring her civil action, public policy still mandates that it fall within the litigation privilege. Doe's allegations of harassment and sexual violence indisputably implicate an issue of significant public concern. Access to civil courts without fear of retaliatory, derivative lawsuits is essential to ensure that victims of harassment and

abuse like Doe have available to them adequate remedies to redress the harm done to them. Civil harassment restraining order proceedings like those that gave rise to the stay-away agreement provide important security to victims, and the mediation program is designed to provide that security on acceptable terms, without the need for a contested hearing, and thus more expeditiously. But it would be contrary to both the policies underlying the litigation privilege and public policy generally to endorse a regime in which obtaining that security through a mediation silences the victim by coaxing them into unwittingly waiving their legal claims without additional consideration. Public policy mandates applying the litigation privilege and permitting victims like Doe to seek full judicial redress for their claims.

The judgment of the court of appeal should, therefore, be reversed.

BACKGROUND

A. Olson's Harassment of Doe

Doe and Olson met in 2002 when they worked together to preserve a historic apartment building in Los Angeles. (AA 181.)¹ Olson ultimately acquired the building, converted the

¹ "AA" refers to Appellant's Appendix, "AOB" to Appellant's Opening Brief, "RB" to Respondent's Brief, and "ARB" to Appellant's Reply Brief—all filed in the court of appeal. "Op." refers to the court of appeal's August 30, 2019, opinion.

apartments to eight condominium units, and became a parttime resident of one of the units; Doe became a resident of one of the others. (*Ibid*.)

Shortly after the conversion, Olson began making romantic advances toward Doe. (AA 10-11.) Doe rejected them, and for the ensuing seven years, friends of Olson to whom he had sold other units in the building and a "project coordinator" that the homeowners' association had hired commenced a pattern of harassment against Doe until she moved out of the unit in 2009. (AA 12-16, 19; see also AA 197 [Olson describing "onsite property manager and project coordinator"].)

Doe returned to the unit in 2013, and in May 2015, Olson, who had since become president of the homeowners' association (HOA) board, invited Doe to meet with him to "bury the hatchet." (AA 16; see also AA 181 [Olson describing his tenure as board president].) During that meeting, Olson "forced himself" onto Doe and "grabbed [her] hair, face and breasts." (AA 17, 130.) The following day, Olson accosted Doe in the building courtyard and harangued her about her refusal to have sex with him. (AA 17-18.) Over the ensuing months, Olson and the project coordinator continued to harass Doe by, among other things, peeping into the unit, photographing and/or videotaping her and her visitors through

All such references are followed by the applicable page reference.

bathroom and bedroom windows, and threatening to "stop [Doe] from breathing." (AA 22-25.)

B. Doe's Civil Harassment Restraining Order Proceedings

On October 13, 2015, Doe applied to the superior court for a civil harassment restraining order against Olson pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 527.6 based on the course of conduct described above. (AA 128-143.) At the resultant hearing, the court ordered the parties to mediation supervised by a volunteer mediator from the California Academy of Mediation Professionals (CAMP). (AA 80, 271; see also Op. 5.)

Both parties asked the mediator whether they could resolve all of their legal grievances against each other: Olson desired resolution of a dispute over the use of a storage unit in the building's basement, and Doe wanted "damages for Olson's sexual assault & battery, stalking, peeping, name-calling and harassment." (AA 80.) The mediator responded that

² During the subsequent superior court proceedings underlying the proceedings now before this Court, Olson objected to Doe's introduction of evidence relating to the parties' discussions with the mediator. (AA 240-253.) The superior court overruled those objections, and Olson did not appeal that ruling. (AA 317 [tentative], 319 [adopting tentative].) That evidence, and this Court's proper consideration of its impact on this appeal, is discussed further at *infra*, p. 61, fn. 11.

such "other issues" "could not be dealt [with in] this restraining order mediation as it was strictly limited to matters dealing with personal safety." (*Ibid.*)

The mediator, who had apparently run out of the standard form CAMP "Mutual Stay-Away and No Contact Agreement" (AA 271-272, 282 [standard CAMP form]), "did his best to prepare a substitute form" (RB 10) and presented Doe (proceeding *pro per*) and Olson (represented by counsel) with a "Mediation Agreement" that the mediator had completed by hand (AA 99). As relevant here, the Mediation Agreement provided that, for "three (3) years":

- (3) The parties agree not to contact or communicate with one another or guests accompanying them, except in writing and/or as required by law.
- (4) Should the parties encounter each other in a public place or in common areas near their residences, they shall seek to honor this agreement by going their respective directions away from one another.
- (5) The parties agree not to disparage one another.

(AA 99; see also Op. 6.) The mediator assured Doe that she "would be allowed to file a lawsuit and that nothing in a Restraining Order Court or the mediated agreement . . . would stop, bar or inhibit [her]" from seeking further administrative or judicial redress. (AA 80.) Doe and Olson signed the agreement on December 10, 2015, which resulted in the dismissal

of Doe's restraining-order action "[w]ithout prejudice." (AA 98-99.)

Following the mediation, Doe faced retaliation by the HOA Board, which demanded that Doe pay a percentage of the legal fees that Olson incurred in the restraining-order proceedings and further authorized its maintenance man to confiscate Doe's lock box and spare unit keys from an adjacent property's fence. (AA 28.) She also continued to face harassment by one of Olson's "long-time friend[s]" to whom Olson had sold one of the building's units. (AA 12, 20 [describing Douglas Econn and his harassment of Doe].)

C. Doe's Administrative Complaints and Civil Suit

To seek the additional forms of redress that the restraining-order court could not grant and because the HOA Board and other associates of Olson continued to harass Doe (AA 20, 27-28), Doe first filed an administrative complaint alleging discrimination based on sex and gender in August 2016 with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) (AA 165-168), which then referred the matter to the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) (AA 86-87). And in December 2016, she filed (again pro per) the civil lawsuit underlying the proceedings now before this Court. (AA 4-42.) Doe's complaint alleged sexual battery and assault against Olson and other causes of action (including ethnic, religious, and marital status discrimination

and infliction of emotional distress) against Olson, the HOA, its property management company, its "project coordinator," and certain friends of Olson who resided in the building and/or served on the HOA Board.

Olson filed a cross-complaint against Doe. (AA 43-50.) He claimed that Doe breached the Mediation Agreement's non-disparagement clause "by filing the underlying complaint, the HUD Complaint, and the DFEH Complaint, each of which contain statements and allegations which disparage Olson." (AA 48.) Doe moved to strike Olson's cross-complaint pursuant to California's anti-SLAPP statute (Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16, subds. (b)(1), (e)(1) & (e)(4)) on the basis that Olson's cross-complaint was "retaliatory litigation" designed to chill Doe's "rights of freedom of speech and right to petition the courts and the executive branch for redress of grievances." (AA 63.)

The anti-SLAPP statute required the superior court to engage in "a two-step process" to determine whether to grant Doe's special motion to strike. (*Equilon Enters. LLC v. Consumer Cause, Inc.* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 53, 67.) First, the court had to consider whether Doe had carried her burden of showing that Olson's cross-complaint fell within section 425.16's purview—i.e., whether Olson's cross-complaint arose out of Doe's acts "in furtherance of [her] right of petition or free speech under the United States or California Constitution in connection with a public issue." (*Id.* at p. 58, quoting Code Civ.

Proc., § 425.16, subd. (b)(1).) Once the moving party's (in this case, Doe's) initial burden is met, the burden shifts to the non-moving party (in this case, Olson) to "establish[] that there is a probability that [he] will prevail on [his] claim[s]." (*Ibid.*) Here, Olson conceded that Doe prevailed on the first step. (AA 110 ["conced[ing]" that "the challenged cause of action arises from protected activities"].) Thus, the superior court was left to determine only whether Olson's cross-complaint "stated and substantiated . . . legally sufficient claim[s]." (*Equilon*, supra, 29 Cal.4th at p. 63, quoting Rosenthal v. Great W. Fin. Sec. Corp. (1996) 14 Cal.4th 394, 412.)

Doe argued, among other things, that Olson could not make the showing required to defeat her anti-SLAPP motion because her civil complaint and HUD/DFEH filings are "absolutely privileged under California Civil Code §47['s]" litigation privilege. (AA 75.) In general terms, that privilege immunizes communications made in, or relating to, judicial or quasi-judicial proceedings by authorized participants from forming the basis for liability (see Silberg v. Anderson (1990) 50 Cal.3d 205, 212) and "present[s] a substantive defense a plaintiff must overcome to demonstrate a probability of prevailing" under "the second step in the anti-SLAPP analysis" (Flatley v. Mauro (2006) 39 Cal.4th 299, 323). Olson maintained that he had established "the requisite probability of prevailing"

(AA 110) because Doe had waived the protections of the litigation privilege by "contractually obligat[ing] herself not to disparage" him in the Mediation Agreement (AA 107) and that "[a]pplying the litigation privilege now" would "frustrate the purpose of the non-disparagement provision" (AA 114; see generally AA 111-114).

The superior court agreed with Doe and struck Olson's cross-complaint in its entirety. (AA 308-318 [tentative ruling], 319-322 [minutes adopting tentative].) The court relied primarily on the First District's decision in Vivian v. Labrucherie (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 267, 270, in which—as here—the parties settled a request for an anti-harassment restraining order with a written agreement "not to disparage the other to any other party." Afterward, Labrucherie allegedly made "disparaging statements" about Vivian during a Sheriff's Department internal affairs investigation, and also in family court. (Id. at pp. 270-271.) Vivian sued Labrucherie for breaching the non-disparagement agreement, and Labrucherie filed an anti-SLAPP motion to strike in response. (*Ibid.*) The First District held that Labrucherie's conduct was absolutely immune from Vivian's suit for breach. As relevant here, the First District explained that the generic non-disparagement clause did not "clearly prohibit" Labrucherie's disparaging statements and that "this case involve[d] a significant public concern" namely, harassment, stalking, and threats of violence by a peace officer. (Id. at pp. 276-277.)

The superior court found that "[l]ike the non-disparagement clause in *Vivan* [sic], this one is ambiguous in its failure to define disparagement. The non-disparagement clause does not clearly prohibit Doe's ability to file administrative complaints or to seek damages for Olson's alleged conduct." (AA 316.) "Additionally," the court continued, "similar policy considerations support application of the litigation privilege" because "[t]he importance of providing to citizens free and open access to governmental agencies for the reporting of suspected illegal activity outweighs the occasional harm that might befall a defamed individual." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Vivian*, *supra*, 214 Cal.App.4th at p. 277.)

D. The Court of Appeal's Decision

The court of appeal affirmed with respect to Doe's HUD/DFEH complaint but reversed with respect to her civil complaint. (Op. 1, 25.) As a threshold matter, the court recognized that "[w]hether the litigation privilege applies to an action for breach of contract turns on whether its application furthers the policies underlying the privilege." (Op. 14, quoting *Wentland v. Wass* (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 1484, 1492.)

With respect to Doe's HUD/DFEH complaint, the court agreed with the superior court that the First District's decision in *Vivian* "is dispositive." (Op. 15.) The court first echoed *Vivian*'s recognition that one of the policies "underlying the litigation privilege is to assure 'utmost freedom of communi-

cation between citizens and public authorities whose responsibility it is to investigate and remedy wrongdoing. . . . The importance of providing to citizens free and open access to governmental agencies for the reporting of suspected illegal activity outweighs the occasional harm that might befall a defamed individual." (Id. at p. 17, quoting Vivian, supra, 214 Cal.App.4th at p. 277.) Applying that principle to Doe's HUD/DFEH complaint, the court reasoned that, as reflected in the Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) (Gov. Code, § 12900 et seq.), "[h]ousing discrimination is a significant public concern." (Op. 17.) "[A]pplication of the litigation privilege to absolve Doe of liability for repeating the same disparaging allegations in her HUD/DFEH complaints is warranted and necessary," the court explained, to "promote[] full and candid discourse with a public agency whose purpose is to protect the public from illegal activity." (*Ibid.*) Moreover, it made no difference that Doe had initiated the contact with HUD (as Olson had argued (AOB 13; ARB 10)) because "there must be an open channel of communication by which citizens can call attention to suspected wrongdoing." (Op. 18, quoting Williams v. Taylor (1982) 129 Cal.App.3d 745, 753-754, citation omitted.)

But with respect to Doe's civil complaint, the court of appeal took a different approach. Instead of again applying *Vivian*, the court relied primarily (Op. 18-20) on the Third

District's earlier decision in *Wentland*, which refused to apply the litigation privilege to the defendant real-estate investors' statements in litigation that the plaintiff property manager had engaged in financial wrongdoing with respect to a property. (126 Cal.App.4th at p. 1487.) There, the parties had previously negotiated a multifaceted confidential settlement concerning the same alleged wrongdoing that included, among other things, a letter of apology from one of the defendants to the plaintiff and an agreement that the defendants "would not make any statement or charge that 'may have the effect of impugning the honesty or integrity' of [the plaintiff] in his management of [the property]." (*Id.* at pp. 1489-1490.)³

Here, despite the court of appeal's earlier holding that Doe's HUD/DFEH complaint was privileged, the lack of specificity in the non-disparagement provision, and the absence of acceptance of responsibility by Olson or a renouncement of the accusations by Doe, the court of appeal held that, "[a]s [in] Wentland," "[i]n reaching settlement . . . , the parties presumably came to an acceptable conclusion about the truth of [one party]'s comments about [the other's behavior]," and that "[i]nstead of promoting access to courts, application of the

³ The settlement in *Wentland* also provided (1) that the defendants would sell their interests in the property to the plaintiff and (2) for a notice mechanism and liquidated damages in the event of a breach. (126 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1489-1490.)

privilege would immunize Doe against enforcement of the terms of the agreement she signed." (Op. 19-20, quoting *Wentland*, *supra*, 126 Cal.App.4th at p. 1494.) Accordingly, the court of appeal concluded that "the public policy underpinning the litigation privilege does not support barring Olson's breach of contract and specific performance causes of action based on Doe's statements in the civil complaint." (Op. 20.)

This Court granted Doe's petition for review.

ARGUMENT

I. California's Litigation Privilege Applies Broadly to Derivative Tort and Contract Claims Alike.

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