№ S258498

In the

Supreme Court

State of California

Jane Doe, et al., Plaintiff, Cross-Defendant, Respondent, and Petitioner,

vs.

CURTIS OLSON,

Defendant, Cross-Complainant, and Appellant.

AFTER THE UNPUBLISHED OPINION AFFIRMING AND REVERSING ANTI-SLAPP ORDERS BY THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, DIVISION EIGHT N_{Ω} B286105

HON. MARIA E. STRATTON, ASSOCIATE JUSTICE; HON. TRICIA A. BIGELOW, PRESIDING JUSTICE; AND HON. ELIZABETH A. GRIMES, ASSOCIATE JUSTICE

LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT N_{\odot} SC126806 HON. CRAIG D. KARLAN, JUDGE

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

1. As a general rule, the litigation privilege in Civil Code section 47, subdivision (b), does not apply to contract claims

This Court has not extended the litigation privilege of Civil Code section 47, subdivision (b), to breach of contract claims. (*Navellier v. Sletten* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 763, 773 (*Navellier II*).) Because of the fundamental difference between contract claims and tort claims, and considering the policies underlying both the litigation privilege and the freedom to contract, the Court should not now extend the privilege to contract claims as Doe suggests. (OBM 28.)

The Legislature originally conceived California's statutory litigation privilege to limit liability for defamation. (*Oren Royal Oaks Venture v. Greenberg, Bernhard et al.* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 1157, 1163 (*Oren*); Silberg v. Anderson (1990) 50 Cal.3d 205, 213 (*Silberg*); see OBM 27.)

As Doe correctly observes, the Court has expanded the privilege to torts besides defamation because the privilege "should not evaporate merely because the plaintiff discovers a conveniently different label for pleading what is in substance an identical grievance arising from identical conduct as that protected by section 47(b)." (*Rubin v. Green* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1187, 1203.)

Despite this expansion, the litigation privilege "is not without limit." (Action Apartment Assn., Inc. v. City of Santa Monica

(2007) 41 Cal.4th 1232, 1242.) The Court has long held, for example, that the privilege cannot bar a claim for malicious prosecution. (*Albertson v. Raboff* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 375, 382.) Consistent with the policy underlying the privilege and its scope, the Court should not apply the privilege to breach of contract claims.

First, contract claims do not implicate the policy of providing free access to the courts without fear of harassment from derivative tort liability. Second, the policy of encouraging freedom to contract — for parties to freely make and enforce "private law" — generally outweighs the policies underlying the litigation privilege.

1.1. Contract claims do not implicate the primary policy underlying the litigation privilege

Tort law and contract law arise from well-established but distinct purposes. (*Erlich v. Menezes* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 543, 550 (*Erlich*) ["the distinction between tort and contract is well grounded in common law, and divergent objectives underlie the remedies created in the two areas"].)

Tort law advances the social policy of preventing various types of harm to society's members, imposing equal duties upon each member with no binding agreement but based on general behavioral expectations. (Applied Equipment Corp. v. Litton Saudi Arabia Ltd. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 503, 514 (Applied Equipment) ["Contract law exists to enforce legally binding agreements between parties; tort law is designed to vindicate social policy"]; Tameny v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (1980) 27 Cal.3d 167, 176; Civ. Code,

§ 1708 ["Every person is bound, without contract, to abstain from injuring the person or property of another, or infringing upon any of his or her rights"].)

Contract law, in turn, regulates only the parties to the contract, and enforces only their agreed-upon intentions. (*Erlich*, 21 Cal.4th at pp. 550–551; *Applied Equipment*, 7 Cal.4th at p. 514 ["Contract law exists to enforce legally binding agreements between parties"].)

"Because a contract is private law created by the parties, it does not involve the community concerns and obligations central to tort. The parties' agreement forms the fundamental law of the case, and it is the basis for determining liability for damages caused by breach. When two private parties make a contract, they create mutual risks which are based on that contract and not on more general expectations of behavior." (Hunter, Modern Law of Contracts (2020 ed.) § 14:9.)

In freely entering into a contractual relationship, a party may voluntarily relinquish even fundamental rights, including constitutional rights to free speech or to a jury trial. (Sanchez v. City of San Bernardino (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 516, 528, citing ITT Telecom Products Corp. v. Dooley (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 307, 319 (ITT Telecom) [waiving First Amendment rights by contract]; Ruiz v. Podolsky (2010) 50 Cal.4th 838, 852-854 [waiving the constitutional right to a jury trial by contract].¹)

Crossroads Investors, L.P. v. Fed. Nat. Mortgage Assn.
 (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 757, 787 (Crossroads), citing Navellier II,

Consistent with this principle, the reviewing courts have upheld the validity of an appeal waiver in a plea bargain because it is also an enforceable contract between a prosecutor and defendant. (See, e.g., *United States v. DeSantiago-Martinez* (9th Cir. 1992) 980 F.2d 582, 583, as amended (1994) 38 F.3d 394, cert. den. (1995) 513 U.S. 1128; *United States v. Attar* (4th Cir. 1994) 38 F.3d 727, 731, cert den. (1995) 514 U.S. 1107.)

If a party voluntarily contracts not to sue or otherwise speak to or in a court, a claim for breach of that agreement does not *improperly* limit the party's access to the courts. (*Wentland v. Wass* (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 1484, 1494 ["one who validly contracts not to speak waives ... the protection of the litigation privilege"]; *ITT Telecom*, 214 Cal.App.3d at p. 320 [defendant accepted duty not to disclose plaintiff's trade secrets by entering nondisclosure agreement, so litigation privilege did not bar breach of contract claim]; *DaimlerChrysler Motors Co. v. Lew Williams, Inc.* (2006) 142 Cal.App.4th 344, 354 [statute designed to protect protected speech or petitioning rights should not be a shield from liability when defendant voluntarily relinquishes the rights as part of consideration in entering a prior contract].)

¹⁰⁶ Cal.App.4th at pp. 773–774 (recognizing a preexisting legal relationship like a contract may limit a party's right to petition); accord, *Charter Communications, Inc. v. City. of Santa Cruz* (9th Cir. 2002) 304 F.3d 927, 935 (waiver of First Amendment rights through voluntarily entered contract).

Even if the risk of a contract claim has a potential chilling effect, its source is not the plaintiff's contract claim, but the defendant's voluntary agreement. (See *Sun Life Assurance Co. of Canada v. Imperial Premium Finance, LLC* (11th Cir. 2018) 904 F.3d 1197, 1219 (*Sun Life*) ["But, the true source of any chilling effect will be the parties' duly-entered contract, which itself bars the filing of the lawsuit"].)

Any such potential chilling effect likewise evaporates in the climate of breach of contract since only parties who have voluntarily entered into a contractual relationship can bring a claim for breach — and only for a failure to abide by the contractual promises made by those in contractual privity. (*Oasis W. Realty, LLC v. Goldman* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 811, 821 (*Oasis*) [one of the essential elements of a breach of contract claim is privity — that is, "the existence of the contract"]; Judicial Council of California Civil Jury Instructions (CACI) (2017 ed.) No. 303, Breach of Contract—Essential Factual Elements.)

Because contract law exists only to enforce the intentions of the contracting parties, the threat of a potential breach of contract claim cannot cause a litigant any fear of harassment by derivative tort liability. The duties arising from the contract, and the liability for its breach, are limited to its parties, rather than society at large.

And it is harm to society's discourse with the courts that is the principal evil the litigation privilege prevents. (*ITT Telecom*, 214 Cal.App.3d at pp. 320–323 [tort law imposes obligations on every

person based on social policy while contract law turns on the will or intention of the parties to a contract, so the litigation privilege applies to a misappropriation tort claim but not to claim for breach of a nondisclosure agreement]; *E. & J. Gallo Winery v. Andina Licores S.A.* (E.D.Cal., June 30, 2006, No. CVF05-0101) 2006 WL 1817097, at p. *7 (*E. & J. Gallo*) [California's litigation privilege is inapplicable to breach of contract claims because they do "not impinge on" a party's "right to resort to this or any other court, or in any other way contravene the [privilege's] policy reasons"].)

1.2. Breach of contract claims cannot be "artfully pleaded" defamation claims

This Court has expanded the litigation privilege to other torts so the artifice of "conveniently different labels" cannot circumvent the privilege with an equally chilling effect on judicial access. (*Rubin*, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1203.) But no such risk exists for breach of contract claims.

First, a plaintiff seeking a conveniently different label for pleading defamation cannot simply bring a breach of contract claim; only parties who have freely entered into a contractual relationship can do so. (Oasis, 51 Cal.4th at p. 821; CACI No. 303.)

Second, the "sine qua non" of recovery for defamation is "the existence of a 'falsehood,'" the engagement in false speech. (Baker v. L.A. Herald Examiner (1986) 42 Cal.3d 254, 259, quoting Letter Carriers v. Austin (1974) 418 U.S. 264, 283.)

A breach of contract claim, in contrast, hinges not on whether speech is true or false, but on a party's breach of an independent promise not to speak. (*Wentland*, 126 Cal.App.4th at p. 1492 [litigation privilege did not bar claim for breach of non-disparagement agreement because parties "had promised not to continue to make such comments," and "not because the negative comments were false"]; *T.T. ex rel. Susan T. v. County of Marin* (N.D.Cal., Jan. 25, 2013, No. C 12-02349) 2013 WL 308908, at p. *6 ["Where the communication at issue is a separate promise independent of the litigation, however, the litigation privilege may not apply"]; *Fisher v. Biozone Pharm., Inc.* (N.D.Cal., Mar. 23, 2017, No. 12-cv-03716-LB) 2017 WL 1097198, at p. *7 [a party may breach a non-disparagement agreement even if the disparaging information is true].²)

Courts around the country recognize that the truth or falsity of a statement is irrelevant to determine whether it violates a non-disparagement agreement. (JetPay Merchant Services, LLC) v. Tepoorten (N.D.Tex., Sept. 23, 2009, No. 3:08-cv-1380) 2009 WL 3047730, at p. *4 ["sole issue here is whether [defendant's] email 'disparaged' [plaintiff], not whether the statements made were true"]; FreeLife Internat., Inc. v. Am. Ed. Music Publications *Inc.* (D.Ariz., Oct. 1, 2009, No. CV07-2210) 2009 WL 3241795, at p. *6 ["the ordinary meaning of" disparage "does not require that the disparaging statement be false"]; Brenner v. Greenberg (N.D.III., Mar. 10, 2011, No. 08-C-0826) 2011 WL 862224, at *4 [though "a disparaging remark can be and often is true," it still breaches non-disparagement agreement]; Kappa Sigma Fraternity v. Richard G. Miller Memorial Foundation (W.D.Va., Feb. 20, 2008, No. 3:07-cv-00026) 2008 WL 445005, at p. *2 [dismissing defamation claim not alleging statement false while upholding breach of contract claim based on same statement violating nondisparagement clause].)

There is thus no meaningful risk that a plaintiff will bring a claim for breach of contract as an artfully pleaded claim challenging defamatory speech someone utters to or in a court. Instead, the parties are already known to each other by their decision to be contractual privies; the contours and parameters of their private agreement to do or not do something are likewise by voluntary agreement.

1.3. California's anti-SLAPP statutory regime also prevents the risk of a party using contract claims to harass a contractual privy for suing or speaking to the courts

To the extent there is any perceived risk a litigant might attempt to bring meritless contract claims to harass another litigant, the anti-SLAPP statute mitigates that risk, if not eliminating it altogether. (Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16.) Petitioning activity within the scope of the litigation privilege falls within the anti-SLAPP statute. (*Briggs v. Eden Council for Hope & Opportunity* (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1106, 1115.)

This means any contract claim arising from the act of suing or speaking to or in court requires proof the claim has sufficient merit to survive the second prong of anti-SLAPP testing — the same standard a litigant must meet when suing for malicious prosecution. (Navellier v. Sletten (2002) 29 Cal.4th 82, 88 (Navellier I) [where an action is a SLAPP, the plaintiff must show a probability of prevailing on the merits]; Jarrow Formulas, Inc. v. LaMarche (2003) 31 Cal.4th 728, 734–735 (Jarrow) [malicious

prosecution action falls within purview of anti-SLAPP statute because it arises from protected activity]; *Pasternack v. McCullough* (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 1347, 1355 [same].)

Here, however, the trial court would not even reach the probability that Olson could succeed on the merits. (Opn. 10 ["As to the second prong, the court found the litigation privilege precluded Olson's two causes of action; the court thus did not reach or analyze whether Olson demonstrated a probability of prevailing on his claims"].) And it was only that part of its ruling to which the Court of Appeal drew the line: "Though an argument may be made as to whether Doe was *permitted* by law to make said communication, we believe it undisputed that she was *authorized* by law to do so." (Opn. 18, original italics, citing *Silberg*, 50 Cal.3d at p. 212.)

In other words, Olson should not be prevented, at the pleading stage, from even trying to prove that Doe repeating the "numerous outrageous and ridiculous allegations" he "vehemently denied" (Opn. 4) could violate their private agreement not to disparage one another. (*Id.* at p. 6.)

1.4. Available remedies likewise limit contract claims from being used to seek damages not contemplated by the parties

Just as the laws of tort and contract turn on different objectives and policy principles, so too are their remedies distinct: "Contract damages are generally limited to those within the contemplation of the parties when the contract was entered into or at least reasonably foreseeable by them at that time; consequential damages beyond the expectations of the parties are not recoverable." (*Applied Equipment*, 7 Cal.4th at p. 515; Civ. Code, § 3300.) "In contrast, tort damages are awarded to compensate the victim for injury suffered." (*Id.* at p. 516.)

Damages for torts, punitive or exemplary damages, along with those for mental suffering or emotional distress, are unavailable for breach of contract. (*Ibid.*; *Erlich*, 21 Cal.4th at p. 558; *City of Hope Nat. Medical Center v. Genentech, Inc.* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 375, 392 ["punitive damages may not be awarded for breach of contract"].)

As a result, an action premised on the theory that the act of suing itself breaches independent, contractual promises creates no risk of tort damages. The worst a litigant need fear is being sued for contractual damages by a party with whom she or he formed a contract — damages placing the non-breaching party in the same position as before the breach.

Such a risk causes no chilling effect. But the opposite would be true if the litigation privilege were extended to all breach of contract claims, because of that application's inherent tension with equally robust policies favoring the freedom to contract.

1.5. The fundamental public policies favoring freedom to contract weigh against applying the litigation privilege to contract claims

Even if contract claims could have a potential chilling effect on suing, the effect is limited. This is because contract claims can be brought only by litigants with whom their adversaries freely signed an agreement, and only for damages contemplated by the agreement. The claims are also still subject to the anti-SLAPP statute.

Respect for well-established policies favoring making and enforcing contracts outweighs any limited chilling effect that might arise from permitting a litigant to pursue a contract claim against a party breaching an agreement not to sue or disparage a contractual privy. (Stacy & Witbeck, Inc. v. City and County of San Francisco (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 1, 7–8 (Stacy II) [immunizing parties from breach of contract liability would frustrate and prevent enforcement of the contract].)

"The paper trail of contractual performance and course of dealing between parties under a contract cannot be immunized from use in later judicial proceedings just because that paper trail is also a publication that serves a litigation purpose. If that same paper trail amounts to wrongful performance or conduct under the contract, it escapes section 47(b)." (*Stacy II*, 47 Cal.App.4th at pp. 7–8.)

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